2011-CA-2067 T CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusals:

- 1. Henry W. Welch, Appellant
- 2. Susan Renee' Vaughn Welch, Appellee
- 3. Honorable Janace Harvey Goree, Chancellor

The undersigned counsel further certifies that the following attorneys have an interest in the outcome of this case:

For Appellant:

- 1. Katherine T. Mills, Esq.
- 2. Patricia A. Rodgers, Esq.

For Appellee

Luther P. Crull, Esq.

Bv

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY ADOPTING TWO DIFFERENT DATES FOR THE PURPOSE OF CLASSIFYING NON-MARITAL AND MARITAL PROPERTY.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is a matter wherein the lower court, in its classification of marital and non-marital assets, adopted two different ending dates of the marriage. The date of valuation of the Appellant's pension was the date of the separation of the parties in 2004. However, the date of valuation the court used for the Appellant's 401(k) was the date of divorce, which was seven (7) years later.

Appellant contends that there can be only one (1) date of dissolution of a marriage and that the date the Chancellor used to value the worth of Appellant's pension is also the date that should by employed to value Appellant's 401(k).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 24, 2011, the Chancery Court of Holmes County entered a Final Judgment of Divorce granting the Appellant, Henry Wayne Welch ("Henry"), a divorce from Appellee, Susan Renee' Vaughn Welch ("Susan"), on the grounds of adultery. (R. 105, Tr. 45:9-10). Incorporated into the Final Judgment of Divorce was the court's distribution of the parties' assets.

On September 9, 1983, Henry and Susan were married in West, Mississippi. (Tr. 8:7-8). They had two (2) children, Carly Suzette Welch, who is now over the age of twenty-one (21) and Cory Spencer Welch, who is now seventeen (17) years of age. (Tr. 8:13-17; 20:9-10).

Susan left the marriage two (2) days before Christmas in 2004. (Tr. 18:9-10). Thereafter, on January 11, 2005, Susan filed for divorce (R. 6) and requested temporary relief. (R. 16). Henry filed his answer and cross petition for custody on March 22, 2005. (R. 25). Approximately five (5) years later, Susan filed an amended complaint for divorce (R. 65) and Henry filed an answer to the amended complaint and a counterclaim for divorce on the grounds of adultery, cruel and inhuman treatment or in the alternative, irreconcilable differences. (R. 76).

Before Susan left the marriage she began having an affair with Dale Bailey ("Dale") as well as James Kennedy ("James"), and she continued those relationships after she filed for divorce. (Tr. 84-86). She also underwent tubal ligation surgery to prevent getting pregnant by another man since Henry previously had a vasectomy. (Tr. 31:14-16; Tr. 87:20-28).

Henry is employed as a technician with AT&T and has been employed by either AT&T or a company affiliated with AT&T since March 20, 1972. (Tr. 61). During his employment, he has been contributing to a pension plan (Tr. 62:8-10), which had a balance of approximately \$240,700 at the time of divorce. (R. 124). The Chancellor found that \$110,000 of the pension, which was almost one-half (½), was non-marital property belonging to Henry. (R. 124). The remaining balance of \$130,700, was divided equally between Henry and Susan, with each receiving \$63,350. (R. 124).

In addition to his pension, Henry has a 401(k) set up through Bell South. (Tr. 129:7-24). When Susan left the marriage in 2004, the balance of Henry's 401(k) was \$114,128.79. (Def. Ex. 3; Tr. 130:18-22; R.E. 3). At the time of the trial, the 401(k) had increased to \$205,000 solely due to Henry's investments. (Tr. 62:18-20, 130:23-28; R. 124; R.E. 3). The Court split the balance equally, using the date of divorce, between Susan and Henry. (R. 124).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A Chancellor's findings of fact must be supported by substantial evidence. Kilpatrick v. Kilpatrick, 732 So. 2d 876 (Miss. 1999). The court will reverse if it finds the Chancellor abused her discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. Id. at 880. "[T]he Court will not hesitate to reverse if it finds the Chancellor's decision is manifestly wrong, or that the court applied an erroneous legal standard." Owen v. Owen, 928 So. 2d 156, 160 (Miss. 2005).

ARGUMENT

It is well-settled law that the division of marital assets is governed by the court's decisions in *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So. 2d 921 (Miss. 1994) and *Hemsley v. Hemsley*, 639 So. 2d 909 (Miss. 1994). The first step is to classify the character of the assets as either marital or non-marital pursuant to *Hemsley*. Once that determination has been made, the Chancellor will employ the factors set forth in *Ferguson* to equitably divide the property that has been classified as marital.

Marital property is that which is "acquired or accumulated during the course of the marriage . . . unless it can be shown by proof that such assets are attributable to one of the parties' separate estates prior to the marriage or outside the marriage." Hemsley v. Hemsley, 639 So. 2d 909, 914 (Miss. 1994). If a party can provide proof that such assets are attributable to one of the parties' separate estates prior to the marriage or acquired outside of the marriage, then that property is classified as non-marital. Fleishhacker v. Fleishhacker, 39 So. 3d 904, 912 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). Application of the guidelines set forth in Hemsley requires the Chancellor to "(1) identify the relevant beginning and ending dates of marriage; (2) determine the date each asset was acquired; and (3) determine whether a particular asset was the result of a spouse's efforts." Bell on Miss. Family L., Debbie Bell, page 156, Section 6.02(2)).

Identifying the beginning date of marriage is straightforward; however, determining the ending date is complicated. The authority has been placed within the discretion of the Chancellor when determining the ending date of the marriage. Fleishhacker v. Fleishhacker, 39 So. 3d 904, 912 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009)(citing Hensarling v. Hensarling, 824 So. 2d 583, 591 (Miss. 2002)).

In Hensarling v. Hensarling, the lower court, in its previous orders, used the parties' date of separation as the date of valuation for marital property. Id. The Mississippi Supreme Court upheld the Chancellor's date of valuation, stating "the date of valuation is necessarily within the discretion of the Chancellor." Id. at 591 (quoting MacDonald v. MacDonald, 698 So. 2d 1078, 1086 (Miss. 1997)). More recently, in Jenkins v. Jenkins, 2010-CA-00129-COA (Miss. Ct. App. 2011), the Mississippi Court of Appeals upheld a Chancellor's date of valuation "because we have held that the valuation date falls within the discretion of the Chancellor when equitably dividing marital property upon divorce." Id. at ¶ 23.

Henry and Susan's marital relationship lasted from 1983 to 2004, approximately twenty-one (21) years. Henry set up a pension through AT&T when he began employment with the company in 1972. Therefore, for nine (9) years prior to his marriage to Susan, he continued to accumulate funds. The pension continued to grow during his marriage to Susan and after Susan left the marriage. Therefore, Henry accumulated stock for sixteen (16) years outside of the marriage; more specifically, the nine (9) years prior to his marriage to Susan and the six (6) years between the time Susan left in 2004 until the date of the divorce.

The Chancellor's opinion does not specifically identify the ending date of the marriage; however, from analyzing the court's division of the assets, it is evident that the court determined the ending date to be December 23, 2004, when Susan left the marriage and never returned. This can be directly inferred by the lower court's valuation of the pension at approximately \$230,000, and its classification of \$110,000 as non-marital property belonging to Henry and

division of the remaining \$130,700 equally between Henry and Susan. The Chancellor's classification of almost one-half (½) of the pension as non-marital property is proportional to the twenty-one (21) years between 1983 to 2004 and the sixteen (16) years prior to the marriage and after separation. It is evident from the above division that the Chancellor determined the ending date of the marriage to be when Susan left the marriage in 2004.

Furthermore, there is no discussion as to how the Chancellor arrived at the conclusion to deem the entire portion of Henry's 401(k) as marital property; however, it can be inferred conclusively that the date of dissolution for the purpose of determining the non-marital portion of Henry's pension differs from the date used to determine the non-marital portion of the 401(k). One-hundred percent of the 401(k) was divided equally between Henry and Susan in the court's chart, which classified the parties' assets and the amounts, but the record is devoid of the required *Helmsley* analysis discussing how the court came to its conclusion.

In its classification of other assets, the court found that the marital home, annuity, retirement and seven (7) acres were all marital property and divided it equally between Henry and Susan. The evidence shows that the marital home and the seven (7) acres were indisputably acquired prior to 2004. As to the annuity and retirement, Susan offered no proof that these assets accumulated any value after 2004; therefore the court held it to be marital property.

The checking account that the Chancellor found to be non-marital property is the only other asset, aside from the pension and the 401(k), which was not acquired prior to 2004. However, there is a discrepancy in the court's judgment

regarding said account. The court's judgment states, "Henry is allowed to maintain... funds in a checking account," however, in the court's chart itemizing the actual division amounts, the checking account was considered marital property and divided between the two (2) parties. (R. 124-126.) It stands to reason that the court's discussion in the judgment classifying the checking account as non-marital property supersedes the itemization in the chart.

Because the checking account was accumulated after 2004, the court, as with the classification of Henry's pension, determined the checking account to be non-marital property. This indicates, once again, that the Chancellor used the date in 2004 as the ending date of the marriage, not the date of divorce.

It is counter intuitive that the ending date of the marriage can be two (2) different dates. There can be but one ending date of a marriage. The ending date of the marriage was clearly 2004 when Susan abandoned the marriage, without any intention to return to her family. Susan's departure was "beyond mere separation of the parties." *Pittman v. Pittman*, 791 So.2d 857, 864 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). When she left, she was having two (2) separate affairs, had ceased to have sexual relations with her husband, had undergone tubal ligation surgery, filed immediately for divorce, and never returned to the marriage. While a temporary support order was never entered, Susan's actions clearly reflect not only a physical separation but also an intention to sever what little spousal relationship existed. These facts clearly support the Chancellor's finding that the date of separation in 2004 was the ending date of the marriage.

Consequently, because the ending date of the marriage was 2004, the Chancellor erred in classifying the entire portion of Henry's 401(k) as marital

property and should have taken a pro rata approach in harmony with the 2004 cutoff date that was used for Henry's pension. When Susan left in 2004, the balance
of the 401(k) was \$114,128.79. On the date of the judgment, the Chancellor
valued it at \$205,000. Had the court used the 2004 date, the martial portion
would be \$114,128.79, thus making the portion of the 401(k) acquired after 2004
\$90,871.21.

Moreover, Susan failed to contribute to the culmination of the pension and the 401(k) after she left the marriage. In order for property outside the marriage to transform into marital property there must be a substantial contribution to the accumulation of property, *Lowry v. Lowry*, 25 So. 3d 274, 292 (Miss. 2009), or the acquisition was through the use of marital property. *Hensarling v. Hensarling*, 824 So. 2d 583, 591 (Miss. 2002). Susan made no contributions to the accumulation of any assets after she left the marriage, and there were no marital assets expended to increase the value of the 401(k) after she left.

In *Hensarling*, after affirming the Chancellor's determination as to the ending date of the accumulation of marital property, the court stated that any funds added after the date of separation to an account that was deemed marital property should be considered separate property.

Moreover, a Chancellor may *only* divide property which is deemed marital. *Jenkins v. Jenkins*, 2010-CA-00129-COA (Miss. Ct. App. 2011). Therefore, the Chancellor abused her discretion by dividing the non-marital portion of Henry's 401(k). Because the portion of the 401(k) acquired after 2004 was not marital property, it could not be considered for equitable distribution

using the *Ferguson* factors. Only the balance of the 401(k) in 2004, which was \$114,128.79, should have been considered marital property.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, the Chancellor erred in classifying non-marital and marital property by imposing two (2) different dates of marital dissolution. The Chancellor correctly applied Susan's abandonment of the marriage in 2004 as the ending date of the marriage to classify what portion of Henry's pension and the checking account were marital property, but failed to use the 2004 date when classifying the marital and non-marital portions of his 401(k).

The non-marital portion of Henry's 401(k) should have been valued as of 2004, just like his pension. By classifying the entire portion of Henry's 401(k) as marital property, and finding that almost one-half (½) of his pension and one-hundred (100) percent of the checking account as non-marital property, the Chancellor applied two (2) different dates for the discontinuance of accumulation of marital property.

The lower court erred in finding the portion of Henry's 401(k) accumulated between 2004 and 2010 as marital property. Accordingly, the Chancellor's decision should be reversed.