SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HENRY W. WELCH

APPELLANT

VERSUS

...

r ·

r - 1

, · ·

i -

F

5

•

.

, .

4 - -

ž

Ł.

ι.

5 T

NO. 2011-CA-00667

APPELLEE

SUSAN RENEE' VAUGHN WELCH

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HOLMES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 05-0009

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

LUTHER P. CRUIL, JR. ATTORNEY AT LAW 110 FIRST STREET P.O. BOX 2181 GRENADA, MS 38902-2181 (662)227-0900 (662)227-0902 (FAX) MSB NO.

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HENRY W. WELCH

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2011-CA-00667

SUSAN RENEE' VAUGHN WELCH APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Susan and Henry were married on September 9, 1983. The parties separated on December 23, 2004.

Susan initiated this divorce proceeding by filing her Complaint for Divorce and Other Relief against Henry on January 11, 2005.

No temporary order nor separate maintenance support order was entered in this cause.

The trial of this matter was held on December 13, 2010.

The Chancellor on March 25, 2011, filed her Final Judgment of Divorce in this cause dated March 24, 2011, incorporating therein the Court's opinion setting forth the Court's findings of facts, legal authority and adjudications.

Susan's 8.05 Financial Statement dated December 13, 2010 was introduced into evidence, marked plaintiff's Exhibit "1" at trial on December 13, 2010. [Exhibit-P1] [R:1-8]

Henry's 8.05 Financial Statement dated December 9, 2010 was introduced into evidence, marked plaintiff's Exhibit "2" at trial on December 13, 2010. [Exhibit-P2] [R:9-16]

Henry was and is employed by AT&T. At the time of trial, Henry had a vested pension plan with AT&T valued at \$240,700.00. Henry started contributing to the plan on March 20, 1972, eleven years prior to his marriage to Susan.

At the time of trial, Henry had a 401(k) plan valued at \$205,000.00 which he started contributing to during the marriage in

1999.

The Chancellor took the value of the pension (\$240,700) and the value of the 401(k) plan (\$205,000) from Henry's 8.05 Financial Statement introduced into evidence on December 13, 2010. The Court's footnote 1 at page 5 of Judgment stated as follows: "The values used in this opinion are from the 8.05 Financial Declarations provided by the parties to the Court". [CP-109] [R-21]

The Court valued Henry's checking account at \$1,080 as setforth on his 8.05 Financial Statement.

The Chancellor found that the 401(k) plan and pension account were marital assets pursuant to 8.05 values. The Court further rightfully found that eleven (11) years pre-marriage contributions by Henry to his pension plan (\$110,000) was Henry's non-marital separate property. The Chancellor found that \$130,700 of the contributions to the pension account after the marriage were marital and divided those contributions equally between Susan and Henry (\$65,350 each). [CP-124] [R-36]

The Chancellor classified, valued and distributed the assets as of the trial date pursuant to the parties 8.05 Financial Statements.

The Court allowed the parties to keep certain assets in the division process (i.e. Henry keep checking account) but then equalized the distribution by ordering Henry to pay Susan the \$3,959.39 difference. [CP-126] [R-38]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The standard of review of a domestic relations appeal is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule. The findings of the Chancellor should not be disturbed unless the Chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. Further, the Appellant Court views the facts in a light most favorable to the appellee and will take appellee's testimony and evidence at its best.

The Chancellor was not manifestly wrong; her opinion was not clearly erroneous; the Chancellor did not abuse her discretion; and the Chancellor did not apply an erroneous legal standard. To the contrary, the Chancellor's opinion was supported by substantial evidence at the trial, particularly when viewed in a light most favorable to appellee.

For the reasons stated in appellee's argument, appellant's issue on appeal is without merit. Therefore, the Chancellor's decision should be affirmed in its entirety.

.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for this Court on this domestic relations appeal is setforth as follows, to-wit:

The scope of review by this Court in domestic relations appeals is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule. So.2d 1117, 1122 Magee v. Magee, 661 (Miss.1995). "This Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." Id. (quoting Bell v. Parker, 563 So.2d 594, 596-97 (Miss.1990)). Additionally, this Court views the facts in a light most favorable to the appellee, Ms. Labella. See Rawson v. Buta, 609 So.2d 426, 429 (Miss.1992). This Court will take her testimony and evidence at its best. Jones, 532 So.2d 574, 578 Jones v. (Miss.1988).

Labella v. Labella, 722 So.2d 472, 474 (Miss.1998)

As trier of fact, the chancellor "evaluate(s) the sufficiency of the proof based upon his assessment of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight he thinks properly ascribed to their testimony." Rakestraw v. Rakestraw, 717 So.2d 1284, 1287 (19) (Miss.Ct.App. 1998). Our scope of review is "limited." Rakestraw, 717 So.2d at 1287 (¶9). The Mississippi Supreme Court has reiterated that in reviewing a divorce decree: "we view the facts of [the] decree in a light most favorable to the appellee and may not disturb the chancellor's decision unless we find that decision to be manifestly wrong or unsupported by substantial evidence." Boutwell v. Boutwell, 829 So.2d 1216, 1220 (¶13) (Miss.2002).

<u>M.W.F. v. D.D.F.</u>, 926 So.2d 923 (¶13) (Miss.2005) (2003-CA-02642-COA) (July 26, 2005)

This Court employs a limited standard of review when reviewing a chancellor's decision.

Miss. Dept Human Servs. v. Shelby, 802 So.2d 89, 92 (Miss. 2001). We will not disturb a chancellor's award of alimony and division of marital assets unless the court was manifestly wrong, abused its discretion or applied an erroneous legal standard. Sandlin v. Sandlin, 699 So.2d 1198, 1203 (Miss. 1997).

ı.

:

i.

. .

,

Watson v. Watson, 882 So.2d 95, 98 (114) (Miss.2004)

SUSAN'S RESPONSE TO HENRY'S ISSUE

The Chancellor applied one correct date for purpose of classification and valuation of non-marital and marital property.

The chancellor's valuation and classification of the pension fund and 401(k) plan are setforth at page 20 of the Final Judgment [CP-124] [R-36] as follows:

AT&T Pension:	non-marital marital Total Value	\$110,000 <u>\$130,700</u> \$240,700
401(k):	non-marital marital Total Value	\$ 0 <u>\$205,000</u> \$205,000

Susan asserted no value for the pension fund or the 401(k) plan on her 8.05. Henry placed the values of \$240,700 (pension) and \$205,000 401(k) plan on his 8.05 Financial Statement. The Chancellor used the values setforth on Henry's 8.05 which was introduced into evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibit "2". [Exhibit-P2] [R: 9-16] Therefore, the Court in her discretion classified and valued the assets as of the divorce trial date December 13, 2010.

Henry states that the Chancellor "does not specifically identify the ending date of the marriage". Henry then goes on to speculate the ending date used by the Chancellor by phrases such as "it is evident" and "it can be inferred conclusively". Henry then blatantly and erroneously states that the Chancellor made a finding that the date of separation was the ending date of marriage, when

the Chancellor made no such finding.

As aforesaid, the Chancellor classified and valued the property as of the date of the divorce hearing using Henry's 8.05 Financial Statement values. The Chancellor divided equally the \$205,000 401(k) account. The Chancellor in her discretion adjudicated the non-marital portion of the pension fund accumulated prior to the marriage to be \$110,000 and awarded this amount to Henry as his non-marital property. The \$130,700 balance of the pension fund was then awarded equally to the parties.

In defining marital property for the purpose of divorce the Court in <u>McIlwain v. McIlwain</u>, 815 So.2d 476 (¶7) (Miss. App. 2002), No. 2000-CA-02062-COA (April 30, 2002) stated in part as follows:

"We define marital property for the purpose of divorce as being any and all property acquired or accumulated during the marriage. Assets so acquired or accumulated during the course of the marriage are marital assets and are subject to an equitable distribution by the chancellor." Flechas v. Flechas, 791 So.2d 295 (¶8) (Miss.Ct.App. 2001), No. 2000-CA-00223-COA (July 24, 2001). The "course of the marriage" runs until the date of the divorce judgment, for purposes of calculating whether or not assets are marital or non-marital, and an otherwise marital asset may be classified as separate if an order for separate maintenance is entered. See Godwin v. Godwin, 758 So.2d 384(16) (Miss. 1999), No. 97-CA-00380-SCT (June 10, 1999).... We find that the key factor is that funds were acquired during the marriage, thus rendering them marital assets. Emphasis added

See also <u>Hemsley v. Hemsley</u>, 639 So.2d 909 (Miss. 1994), No. 92-CA-00423 (July 7, 1994)

If a separate maintenance support order had been entered in this case, marital property accumulation would have terminated as of the date of the separate maintenance order. No separate maintenance support order was entered in this case. <u>Godwin v.</u> <u>Godwin</u>, 758 So.2d 384, 386 (Miss. 1999).

If a temporary support order had been entered in this case, marital property accumulation would have terminated as of the date of the temporary order. No temporary order was entered in this case. <u>Pittman v. Pittman</u>, 791 So.2d 857, 866 (Miss. App. 2001).

As setforth in <u>McIlwain</u>, funds accumulated in the pension and 401(k) accounts during the course of the marriage are marital funds as found by the Chancellor. The course of the marriage runs until the date of divorce judgment.

Henry attempts to argue that because the Court awarded to Henry his checking account this award somehow made the checking account a non-marital asset. This exact procedure has been employed by Chancellors since 1994 when equitable division became law. Certain parties are awarded certain assets and if one has a deficit, the other pays to equalize the distribution.

The Chancellor's opinion was imminently correct and properly applied the law and detailed facts in the Court's classification, valuation and division of assets.

CONCLUSION

The Chancellor's opinion was supported by substantial evidence, particularly when viewed in a light most favorable and at its best to appellee. The Chancellor did not abuse her discretion, was not manifestly wrong and did not apply an erroneous legal standard.

Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should grant to Susan the following relief:

- Affirm in its entirety the decision and opinion entered by the lower Court;
- 2. Tax all cost of appeal to appellant; and
- 3. Award to Susan attorney fees.

This the <u>Ind</u>day of March, A.D., 2012.